IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

SCA EFiled: Jun 06 2024  
01:41PM EDT  
Transaction ID 73328076

---

Docket No. 24-163

*(Underlying Logan County Civil Action No. 23-C-10)*

---

LOGAN COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION,

*Petitioner,*

v.

ELIZABETH VESTAL,

*Respondent,*

---

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

---

**PREPARED BY:**

*Counsel for Petitioner/Defendant*

DUANE J. RUGGIER II (WV STATE BAR # 7787)  
EVAN S. OLDS (WV STATE BAR # 12311)  
901 Quarrier Street  
Charleston, West Virginia 25301  
(304) 344-0100 – Telephone  
(304) 342-1545 – Facsimile

**DATED:** June 6, 2024

##

### **ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

**A.** The Circuit Court clearly erred when it concluded that Petitioner failed to timely raise immunity and unconstitutionality of the savings statute because, under West Virginia law, Petitioner could have raised these issues at trial or on appeal, respectively.

**B.** The Circuit Court clearly erred when it failed to rule on Petitioner's immunity, and its failure to rule on Petitioner's immunity constitutes a denial of said immunity, which is immediately reviewable in this Honorable Court.

**C.** The Circuit Court clearly erred in denying Petitioner's immunity because the Tort Claims Act prohibits claims based on intentional and/or malicious conduct and prohibits claims based on acts performed outside the scope of employment.

**D.** The Circuit Court clearly erred in denying Petitioner's immunity because respondent failed to plead any negligence claim specified in the Tort Claims Act.

**E.** The Circuit Court clearly erred because the Petitioner is entitled to immunity from the claims provided for in the savings statute, W. Va. Code § 55-2-15.

### **QUESTION PRESENTED**

**F.** Whether the Circuit Court was clearly erroneous, exceeded its jurisdiction, exceeded its legitimate powers, and stripped the Petitioner Board of its vested property right in repose, thereby violating its due process rights, when it failed to find that the savings statute is unconstitutional as applied to the Petitioner.

## **II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **A. RESPONDENT'S ALLEGATIONS**

In her *Amended Complaint*, Respondent Vestal alleges that Defendant Willard, a former band teacher at Logan High School, sexually harassed, sexually assaulted, sexually battered, sexually assaulted, and sexually abused her from her sophomore year in high school in 2003, through her senior year in high school in 2005, and into the summer after her senior year in 2005. Am. Compl. ¶¶ 10–150. Respondent alleges that at times pertinent to the *Amended Complaint*, Defendant Willard “worked at Logan High School” and was “employed by the Defendant Logan County Board of Education” as a band teacher. *Id.* at ¶¶ 7–9. Respondent states that she was under Defendant Willard’s care, custody, and control, and on school property when the alleged conduct occurred *Id.* at ¶ 9. Respondent alleges that Willard was the Board’s agent, representative, and employee and is thus “liable to Elizabeth for the injuries caused to her.” *Id.* at ¶¶ 153, 154, 160, 161, 163, 157 [sic 167; Respondent repeats paragraph numbers], 159 [sic], 160 [sic], 162 [sic], 170 [sic], 171 [sic], 180 [sic], 189 [sic], 198 [sic], 207 [sic].

## **B. PROCEDURAL HISTORY**

Respondent Plaintiff filed a *Complaint* and an *Amended Complaint* on October 5, 2022, and October 11, 2022, respectively, in the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, West Virginia, asserting the following counts against Petitioner/Defendant Logan County Board of Education and/or Defendant Brandon Willard:

1. violation of W. Va. Code § 61-8D-5 (sexual abuse by a parent, guardian, custodian or person in a position of trust) against both Defendants;
2. sexual assault and harassment against both Defendants;
3. intentional infliction of emotional distress against both Defendants;
4. sexual battery against both Defendants;
5. false imprisonment against both Defendants;
6. violation of W. Va. Code § 61-8b-7 (sexual abuse in the first degree) against both Defendants;
7. violation of W. Va. Code § 61-8b-4 (sexual assault in the second degree) against both Defendants;
8. violation of W. Va. Code § 61-8D-5 (sexual abuse by a parent, guardian, custodian or person in a position of trust) against both Defendants;

9. negligent hiring against the Petitioner Board;
10. negligent retention against the Petitioner Board;
11. negligent supervision against the Petitioner Board;
12. negligence per se against the Petitioner Board.

App. 1–61.

Petitioner was served on October 11, 2022. Petitioner moved to dismiss for improper venue on October 24, 2022, and moved to dismiss on November 14, 2022, for numerous reasons, including immunity under the West Virginia Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act, W. Va. Code § 29-12A-1 et seq. (Tort Claims Act) and including the unconstitutionality of the savings statute, as applied to the Petitioner Board, on which Respondent’s claims rely. App. 84–123.<sup>1</sup> Venue was transferred to Logan County sometime at the end of January 2023.<sup>2</sup> The matter was transferred from Judge Joshua Butcher to Judge Kelly Codispoti on February 3, 2023. App. 267. Petitioner’s motions to dismiss were fully briefed: Respondent Plaintiff submitted responses, a surresponse, and a supplemental response; and Petitioner submitted replies thereto. App. 126–138, 179–219, 238–261, 323–331, 335–339. The Logan County Circuit Court heard argument on Petitioner’s motion to dismiss on May 22, 2023. The parties soon thereafter submitted proposed orders. App. 341–349, 364–392.

After Petitioner, by counsel, telephoned the Circuit Court numerous times inquiring into the status of the motions and even requesting status conferences with the Circuit Court to prompt a ruling to no avail, Petitioner and Defendant Willard filed a *Petition for Writ of Mandamus* on January 3, 2024, seeking a ruling on Petitioner’s immunity. Case No. 24-8. On February 6, 2023,

---

<sup>1</sup> Petitioner’s original motion to dismiss was mis-named *Motion to Dismiss Claim for Punitive Damages*. App. 84. However, said *Motion* and supporting *Memorandum* moved to dismiss all claims. App. 84–110. The *Motion* stated “Defendant . . . moves under Rule 12(b)(6) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure and that this Honorable Court dismiss Plaintiff’s causes of action . . . .” App. 84. The *Memorandum* methodically and specifically sought dismissal of all claims against the Board. App. 88–110. Nonetheless, out of caution, on November 17, 2022, Petitioner filed an *Amended Motion to Dismiss* to correct the misnomer and adopted by reference its November 14, 2022, *Memorandum of Law In Support*. App. 120.

<sup>2</sup> The respective circuit courts’ docket sheets are unclear as to when the case was actually transferred. App. 410, 418.

the Circuit Court signed and entered “Plaintiff’s Proposed Order Denying Defendant Logan County West Virginia Board of Education’s Motions to Dismiss,” finding that Petitioner Board’s “three” motions were untimely filed. App. 400–409, ¶ 64.

### **III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The Circuit Court failed to rule on Petitioner’s immunity. The Circuit Court failed to address the application of the savings statute to the Board, which application violates the Board’s substantive due process rights and impinges on immunity to which the Petitioner Board is entitled. The Circuit Court erroneously found that the Petitioner’s motion to dismiss, which raised immunity and due process (among other grounds), was untimely, yet, under West Virginia law, immunity can be raised as late as trial and unconstitutionality of a statute can be raised for the first time on appeal. Moreover, Petitioner timely responded to the Respondent’s complaint by moving to dismiss or transfer venue based on improper venue. This is not a case where a defendant failed to answer or otherwise respond to a complaint. Petitioner timely raised immunity and due process violations after raising improper venue.

The Circuit Court’s failure to rule on immunity is a denial of immunity, which is immediately appealable. The Board is entitled to immunity under the Tort Claims Act because (1) it cannot be liable for the intentional, criminal acts of Defendant Willard, and it cannot be liable because Defendant Willard committed said acts outside the scope of his employment, (2) Petitioner failed to state a cognizable negligence claim against the Board, and (3) actions based on sexual assault and sexual abuse—actions allowed under the current savings statute—are not actions permitted under the Tort Claims Act. Likewise, the Circuit Court’s failure to address the unconstitutionality of the retroactive savings statute, as applied to the Board, is a denial of the Board’s substantive due process right, that is, the right to repose.

#### IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioner requests oral argument. This matter involves assignments of error in the application of settled law, but also involves a matter of first impression, of fundamental public importance, and involves constitutional questions regarding the validity of a statute as applied to Petitioner. It is undersigned's understanding that the substantive due process implications of the retroactive 2020 amendments to the savings statute, W. Va. Code § 55-2-15, have not been addressed by the Court.

#### V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Honorable Court reviews a circuit court's denial of a motion to dismiss *de novo*. See Syl. Pt. 4, in part, *Ewing v. Bd. of Educ.*, 202 W. Va. 228, 503 S.E.2d 541 (1998). "For purposes of the motion to dismiss, the complaint is construed in the light most favorable to plaintiff [ ], and its allegations are to be taken as true." *W. Va. Bd. of Educ. v. Marple*, 236 W. Va. 654, 660, 783 S.E.2d 75, 81 (2015) (citation omitted). "[D]ismissal for failure to state a claim is only proper where it is clear that no relief could be granted under any set of facts that could be proved consistent with the allegations in the complaint." *Id.* (citation omitted). But a plaintiff's complaint must "at a minimum ... set forth sufficient information to outline the elements of his [or her] claim," and "in civil actions where immunities are implicated, the trial court must insist on heightened pleading by the plaintiff." *Id.* (citations omitted); *Mercer Cnty. Bd. of Educ. v. Ruskauff*, No. 18-0711, 2019 WL 5692295, at \*2 (W. Va. Nov. 4, 2019).

The ultimate determination of whether qualified or statutory immunity bars a civil action is one of law for the court to determine. Therefore, unless there is a bona fide dispute as to the foundational or historical facts that underlie the immunity determination, the ultimate questions of statutory or qualified immunity are ripe for summary disposition.

Syl. pt. 1, *Hutchison v. City of Huntington*, 198 W. Va. 139, 479 S.E.2d 649 (1996).

“The writ of prohibition shall lie as a matter of right in all cases of usurpation and abuse of power, when the inferior court has no jurisdiction of the subject-matter in controversy, or, having such jurisdiction, exceeds its legitimate powers.” W. Va. Code § 53-1-1; *see also* syl. pt. 1, *Crawford v. Taylor*, 138 W.Va. 207, 75 S.E.2d 370 (1953). In that regard, this Honorable Court, speaking through Justice Cleckley, has held:

In determining whether to entertain and issue the writ of prohibition for cases not involving an absence of jurisdiction but only where it is claimed that the lower tribunal exceeded its legitimate powers, this Court will examine five factors: (1) Whether the party seeking the writ has no other adequate means, such as direct appeal, to obtain the desired relief; (2) whether the petitioner will be damaged or prejudiced in a way that is not correctable on appeal; (3) whether the lower tribunal’s order is clearly erroneous as a matter of law; (4) whether the lower tribunal’s order is an oft repeated error or manifests persistent disregard for either procedural or substantive law; and (5) whether the lower tribunal’s order raises new and important problems or issues of law of first impressions.

Syl. pt. 4, *State ex rel. Hoover v. Berger*, 199, W. Va. 12, 483 S. E. 2d 12 (1996); syl. pt. 2, *State ex rel. State v. Sims*, 240 W. Va. 18, 807 S.E.2d 266 (2017). “These factors are general guidelines that serve as a useful starting point for determining whether a discretionary writ of prohibition should issue.” Syl. pt. 4, *Hoover*, 199, W. Va. 12, 483 S.E.2d 12; syl. pt. 2, *Sims*, 240 W. Va. 18, 268, 807 S.E.2d 266.

The party seeking the writ is not required to satisfy all five factors but “it is clear that the third factor, the existence of clear error as a matter of law, should be given substantial weight.” Syl. pt. 4, *Hoover*, 199, W. Va. 12, 483 S. E. 2d 12; syl. pt. 2, *Sims*, 240 W. Va. 18, 268, 807 S.E.2d 266. Although “[a] writ of prohibition will not issue to prevent a simple abuse of discretion by a trial court,” in situations where a trial court has exceeded its legitimate powers and there is “no plain, speedy, and adequate remedy in the ordinary course of law” then “the remedy by appeal is usually deemed inadequate” and “prohibition is allowed.” *See* syl. pt. 1, *State ex rel. Thrasher*

*Eng’g, Inc. v. Fox*, 218 W. Va. 134, 624 S.E.2d 481 (2005)(holding: “A writ of prohibition will not issue to prevent a simple abuse of discretion by a trial court.”); *see also Hoover*, 199 W. Va. at 21, 483 S.E.2d at 21 (holding prohibition appropriate where “petitioner has no plain, speedy, and adequate remedy in the ordinary course of law.”).

## VI. ARGUMENT

### A. THE CIRCUIT COURT CLEARLY ERRED WHEN IT CONCLUDED THAT PETITIONER FAILED TO TIMELY RAISE IMMUNITY AND UNCONSTITUTIONALITY OF THE SAVINGS STATUTE BECAUSE, UNDER WEST VIRGINIA LAW, PETITIONER COULD HAVE RAISED THESE ISSUES AT TRIAL OR ON APPEAL, RESPECTIVELY.

#### i. THE CIRCUIT COURT’S FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS WERE CLEARLY ERRONEOUS

In its signed-and-entered February 6, 2023, *Proposed Order*, the Logan County Circuit Court erroneously concluded that Petitioner’s November 14, 2022, mistakenly-titled *Motion to Dismiss Claim for Punitive Damages*<sup>3</sup> and supportive *Memorandum of Law*<sup>4</sup> were untimely. The Circuit Court erroneously reasoned that, because the Circuit Court of Kanawha County had, on November 9, 2022, entered a briefing *Order* on Defendant’s October 24, 2022, *Motion to Dismiss or Transfer Venue*, which raised improper venue, no other motions to dismiss could be filed without leave of court. In other words, the Logan County Circuit Court misconstrued the Kanawha County Circuit Court’s briefing *Order* to curtail any other grounds for dismissal, unless Petitioner sought leave of Court. App. 406, ¶¶ 39–40, 64 (noting that the Board failed to seek leave of court to file its November 14, 2022, *Motion* and *Memorandum* and its November 17, 2022,<sup>5</sup> *Amended Motion to Dismiss*).<sup>6</sup> Further, the Circuit Court’s February 6 *Proposed Order* found that the Board

---

<sup>3</sup> Again, the express language in said *Motion* and *Memorandum* sought dismissal of all claims based on immunity, due process, and other grounds.

<sup>4</sup> The *Motion* and *Memorandum* were served on November 14 and filed on November 17, 2022.

<sup>5</sup> The *Amended Motion to Dismiss* is dated November 17, 2022, as it was served on November 17; the Circuit Court’s *Order* identifies it by its filing date. Of note, E-filing was not yet available in Kanawha County in November 2022.

<sup>6</sup> The February 6 *Proposed Order* also takes issue with there being no separate memorandum accompanying the November 17 *Amended Motion to Dismiss*. Any memorandum additional to the November 14 would have been

was required to seek leave to file its December 1, 2022, *Renewed Motion to Dismiss or Transfer Venue*, which the Board filed after Respondent Vestal failed to timely oppose Petitioner’s October 24, 2022, *Motion*. App. 406, ¶¶ 41, 64; *see* App. 139–141, 125–129. However, the Kanawha County Circuit Court never found the *Renewed Motion* improper; in fact, the Kanawha County Circuit Court granted the relief sought in the October 24 *Motion* and in the December 1, 2022, *Renewed Motion* and transferred the case to Logan County Circuit Court in January 2023. App. 177–178.

The Circuit Court’s clear error abounds. Mistaking the procedural posture, the Court found that the none of Petitioner’s “three subsequent Motions to Dismiss were timely filed, and none were filed with leave of Court.” App. 408, ¶ 64. Here, Circuit Court’s reference to “three subsequent Motions to Dismiss” highlights the Court’s clear error; the Circuit Court failed to acknowledge, or was unaware, that the December 1, 2022, *Renewed Motion* had already been resolved by the Kanawha County Circuit Court when it transferred the case. There were not “three” subsequent motions dismiss even counting the *Renewed Motion*; the *Amended Motion* was not a standalone motion but only corrected the mistakenly titled November 14 *Motion to Dismiss Claim for Punitive Damages*.

Even if there were three motions, nothing in the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure limits the number of motions a party can file. Rather, the Rules contemplate and provide for more than one motion. Under Rule 12(g), “A party who makes a motion under this rule may join with it any other motions herein provided for and then available to the party.” W. Va. R. Civ. P. 12. Under Rule 10(c), “(c) Adoption by Reference; Exhibits. Statements in a pleading may be adopted by reference in a different part of the same pleading or in another pleading or in any motion.” W. Va.

---

superfluous. The November 17 Amended Motion to Dismiss expressly relied on the November 14 Memorandum, which Rule 10(c) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure allows.

R. Civ. P. 10. It is broadly recognized in West Virginia that “[t]he general philosophy behind Rule 12 militates against placing parties in procedural straitjackets by requiring them to possibly forego valid defenses by hurried and premature pleading.” Louis J. Palmer, Jr., Robin Jean Davis, and Franklin D. Cleckley, *Handbook on West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure* § 12(a) at 316 (4th ed. 2012).

Not only do the Rules provide for more than one motion, but also, neither the Kanawha County Circuit Court nor the Logan County Circuit Court placed a limit on motions. As explained *infra*, West Virginia law expressly allows a defendant to raise immunity and constitutional deprivations before trial. In any event, nothing in the Kanawha County Circuit Court’s November 9, 2022, *Order* setting a briefing schedule on Petitioner’s original *Motion to Dismiss or Transfer Venue* prohibited Petitioner from moving to dismiss on immunity, due process, and other grounds. The November 9 *Order* merely set a briefing schedule. Contrary to the Court’s mistaken *Proposed Order*, one motion pended before it—the motion seeking dismissal on immunity grounds, due process grounds, and other grounds—and no rule or order required Petitioner to seek leave to file it.

**ii. THE CIRCUIT COURT WAS CLEARLY ERRONEOUS BECAUSE THE RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE EXPRESSLY ALLOWED PETITIONER TO RAISE THE DEFENSE OF FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM**

Importantly, as addressed in *Petitioner’s Response to Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss Petitioner’s Appeal for Lack of an Appealable Order, Ruling, Or Judgment Pursuant to W. Va. R. App. P., Rule 31* previously filed before this Court, the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure expressly state that the failure-to-state-a-claim defense is not waived and can be raised as late as trial, unlike failure to raise improper venue:

(h) Waiver or Preservation of Certain Defenses.

(1) A defense of lack of jurisdiction over the person, **improper venue**, insufficiency of process, or insufficiency of service of process **is waived (A) if omitted from a motion** in the circumstances described in subdivision (g), or (B) if it is neither made by motion under this rule nor included in a responsive pleading or an amendment thereof permitted by Rule 15(a) to be made as a matter of course.

(2) A defense of **failure to state a claim** upon which relief can be granted, a defense of failure to join a party indispensable under Rule 19, and an objection of failure to state a legal defense to a claim **may be made in any pleading permitted or ordered under Rule 7(a), or by motion for judgment on the pleadings, or at the trial on the merits.**

(3) Whenever it appears by suggestion of the parties or otherwise that the court lacks jurisdiction of the subject matter, the court shall dismiss the action.

W. Va. R. Civ. P. 12(h) (emphasis added). Under (h)(2), the Petitioner could raise its 12(b)(6) grounds for dismissal in any pleading permitted under Rule 7(a). Rule 7(a) allows a party to answer a complaint. Under Rule 12(b), the “failure to state a claim” ground may be raised in a motion, in lieu of an answer, which the Petitioner did. App. 84–117, 120–122. Per Rule 12(h)(2), Petitioner could have waited until trial to raise the failure to state a claim defense. Petitioner’s November 14, *Motion and Memorandum* and November 17 *Amended Motion* moved to dismiss Respondent Vestal’s claims for failure to state a claim. *Id.* The Circuit Court clearly erred in finding the motion untimely.

**iii. THE CIRCUIT COURT WAS CLEARLY ERRONEOUS BECAUSE PETITIONER COULD RAISE IMMUNITY AND CONSTITUTIONAL DEPRIVATION OF RIGHTS AS LATE AS TRIAL OR APPEAL**

The West Virginia Supreme Court has held:

qualified immunity can be pled at various stages in a case. As one court noted, qualified immunity is a question of law that may be generally asserted (1) on a pretrial motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) for failure to state a claim; (2) as an affirmative defense in the request for judgment on the pleadings pursuant to Rule 12(c); (3) on a summary judgment motion pursuant to Rule 56(e); or (4) at trial.

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