IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA
No. 24-163

SCA EFiled: Sep 05 2024
04:36PM EDT
Transaction ID 74244463

LOGAN COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION,

Defendant Below, Petitioner,

v.

ELIZABETH VESTAL,

Plaintiff Below, Respondent

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Counsel for Respondent

Teresa C. Toriseva, Esq. #6947
Joshua D. Miller, Esq. #12439
Andrew A. Carpenter, Esq. #14542
TORISEVA LAW
1446 National Road
Wheeling, WV 26003
304-238-0066
304-238-0149
justice@torisevalaw.com

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

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews *de novo* a circuit court's order granting a motion to dismiss a complaint. Syl. pt 2, *State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, Inc.*, 194 W. Va. 770, 461 S.E.2d 516 (1995); *Albright v. White*, 202 W. Va. 292, 503 S.E.2d 860 (1998). When ruling on a motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, the complaint should be construed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, and the allegations in the complaint should be taken as true. *Lodge Distrib. Co., Inc., v. Texaco, Inc.* 161 W.Va. 603, 605, 245 S.Ed. 2d 157, 158 (1978). Where “the information contained in the pleadings is sufficient to justify the case proceeding further,” the motion to dismiss should be denied and the case remanded for further proceedings. *Hutchison v. City of Huntington*, 198 W. Va. at 150, 479 S.E.2d at 660.

V. ARGUMENT

A. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT THE PETITIONER FAILED TO TIMELY RAISE ITS ARGUMENTS CONCERNING STATUTORY IMMUNITY AND THE ALLEGED UNCONSTITUTIONALITY OF THE SAVINGS STATUTE BECAUSE THE PETITIONER INTENTIONALLY OMITTED THOSE ARGUMENTS FROM ITS FIRST MOTION TO DISMISS.

- i. **Rule 12 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure specifically states that a party shall not file multiple motions to dismiss.**

The Circuit Court found that the Petitioner “failed to file [] MTD No. 2, [] MTD No. 3, or [] MTD No. 4 in a timely manner.” (Order, App. 400-09, ¶67). The Circuit Court denied those motions as untimely and noted that the Petitioner failed to seek leave of Court in order to file its additional motions to dismiss. The Petitioner’s four Motions to Dismiss⁵, MTD Nos. 1, 2, 3, and

⁵ The Petitioner has failed to cite to which motion to dismiss it filed was improperly denied by the Circuit Court and has failed to acknowledge that it filed four motions to dismiss. Rather, the Petitioner misstates that its “original motion to dismiss was mis-named *Motion to Dismiss Claim for Punitive Damages*.” (Brief, fn. 2) The Petitioner’s original Motion to Dismiss, MTD No. 1, was named “Motion to Dismiss or Transfer Venue.” The Petitioner also incorrectly stated that “There were not ‘three’ subsequent motions [sic.] dismiss

4, are governed by Rule 12 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. Rule 12 sets a limit on the number of motions to dismiss that can be filed in response to a pleading. Rule 12 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure prohibits parties from filing multiple motions to dismiss. It states:

A party who makes a motion under this rule may join with it any other motions herein provided for and then available to the party. If a party makes a motion under this rule but *omits therefrom any defense or objection then available* to the party which this rule permits to be raised by motion, the party **shall not thereafter make a motion based on the defense or objection so omitted, except a motion as provided in subdivision (h)(2)** hereof on any of the grounds there stated.

W. Va. Civ. P. 12(g) (Emphasis added).

The use of the term “shall not” is crucial. The word “shall” affords litigants no leeway or discretion. This Court has stated that “It is well established that the word ‘shall,’ in the absence of language in the statute showing a contrary intent on the part of the Legislature, should be afforded mandatory connotation.” Syl. Pt. 1, *Nelson v. West Va. Pub. Employees Ins. Bd.*, 171 W.Va. 445, 300 S.E.2d 86 (1982). The exception referenced in Rule 12(g) provides no justification for the Petitioner’s filing of four motions to dismiss. Rule 12(h)(2) reads:

A defense of failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, or a defense of failure to join a party indispensable under Rule 19, and an objection of failure to state a legal defense to a *claim may be made in any pleading permitted* or ordered under Rule 7(a), or by ***motion for judgment on the pleadings***, or at the ***trial*** on the merits.

W. Va. Civ. P. 12(h)(2) (Emphasis added).

Simply put, if any then available defense or objection is omitted from a motion to dismiss, the defending party shall not make a motion based on the defense so omitted; except, the defendant

but only corrected the mistakenly titled November 14 *Motion to Dismiss Claim for Punitive Damages.*” (Brief, Pg. 8).

may assert that defense in any pleading⁶ permitted, motion for judgment on the pleadings, or at trial. There is no indication, and no argument has been raised, that the Petitioner's claimed defenses of statutory immunity or its arguments concerning the constitutionality of the savings statute were not available to it on October 27, 2022 when it filed MTD No. 1. The Petitioner intentionally omitted those arguments from its original motion to dismiss, MTD No. 1. The Circuit Court correctly ruled that MTD Nos. 2, 3, and 4 were not timely. *Contra W. Virginia Lottery v. A-1 Amusement, Inc.*, 240 W. Va. 89, 95, 807 S.E.2d 760, 766 (2017) (holding that the defendant did not waive its right to assert the defense of immunity in its second motion to dismiss because, even though it omitted immunity from its first motion to dismiss, it "explicitly reserved the right to assert those immunities in a footnote.") MTD Nos. 2, 3, and 4 were all filed more than twenty days after the Amended Complaint was served on the Petitioner and the Petitioner did not seek leave of Court to file those motions after the expiration of its time to respond.

The Circuit Court did not rule that the Petitioner waived its ability to ever raise arguments of immunity or of the savings statute's constitutionality. Rather, as Rule 12 clearly states, the Petitioner could have raised those arguments in any pleading permitted under Rule 7(a)⁷, in a motion for judgment on the pleadings, or at trial. The Circuit Court's February 6, 2024 Order did not prohibit or prevent the Petitioner from asserting those arguments. The Petitioner decided to omit those arguments from its original motion to dismiss and now seeks to ignore that fact.

⁶ On Page 8 of its *Brief*, the Petitioner attempts to assert that its "Defendant's Amended Motion to Dismiss", MTD No. 3, could have been filed under W. Va. R. Civ. P. 10(c). Rule 10(c) permits "pleadings" to adopt statements made in the same pleading, another pleading or in a motion. Under W. V. R. Civ. P. 7(a), Fn. 6, *supra*, a motion to dismiss is not a pleading.

⁷ Rule 7(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure states:

There shall be a complaint and an answer; a reply to a counterclaim denominated as such; an answer to a cross-claim, if the answer contains a cross-claim; a third-party complaint, if a person who was not an original party is summoned under the provisions of Rule 14; and a third-party answer, if a third-party complaint is served. No other pleading shall be allowed, except that the court may order a reply to an answer or a third-party answer.

For all of the foregoing reasons, the Circuit Court’s February 6, 2024 Order, App. 400-09, must be affirmed and this matter must be remanded back to the Circuit Court for further proceedings.

ii. The Petitioner’s outstanding Motions to Dismiss were rendered moot by its filing of its Answer on February 28, 2023.

In addition to the four separate Motions to Dismiss filed by the Petitioner, on February 28, 2023, it filed its “Answer to Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint.” App. 271-311. On January 24, 2023, the Circuit Court of Kanawha County entered an Order granting MTD No. 1 and transferred the case to the Circuit Court of Logan County, West Virginia. The Court ordered the relief sought by the Petitioner in its MTD No. 1. Once the Petitioner filed its Answer to the Amended Complaint, all of the Petitioner’s then-outstanding Motions to Dismiss were rendered moot.

West Virginia Rule of Civil Procedure 12 governs how a party must respond to a complaint. Specifically, Rule 12(b) provides:

How presented. — Every defense, in law or fact, to a claim for relief in any pleading, whether a claim, counterclaim, cross-claim, or third-party claim, shall be asserted in *the responsive pleading* thereto if one is required, except that the following defenses may at the option of the pleader be made by *motion*:

- (1) lack of jurisdiction over the subject matter,
- (2) lack of jurisdiction over the person,
- (3) improper venue,
- (4) insufficiency of process,
- (5) insufficiency of service of process,
- (6) failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted,
- (7) failure to join a party under Rule 19. *A motion making any of these defenses shall be made before pleading* if a further pleading is permitted....

W. Va. R. Civ. P. 12(b) (Emphasis added).

As relevant to this action, a “pleading” under Rule 7(a) includes a “complaint and an answer” and a few other filings not applicable to this matter. In a case such as this, a defendant

wishing to raise a defense under Rule 12(b) through a singular motion to dismiss shall do so *before* filing an answer. A defense raised under Rule 12(b) may be raised by either a motion or by an answer, not both. The West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure do not permit a defendant to raise defenses through a motion *and* an answer. A defending party must file its motion to dismiss and present it to the court for resolution before it files its answer to the complaint.

Rule 12 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure also directs the timing of an answer after a motion to dismiss has been disposed of; its states “if the court denies the motion or postpones its disposition until the trial on the merits, the responsive pleading shall be served within 10 days after notice of the court's action.” W. Va. R. Civ. P. 12(a)(3)(A). Therefore, all of the Petitioners outstanding Motions to Dismiss that were not adjudicated before the filing of its Answer on February 28, 2023, were rendered moot. The Petitioner has failed to follow Rule 12 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure and failed to raise the defenses of statutory immunity and the constitutionality of the savings clause through a timely filed motion to dismiss.

For all of the foregoing reasons, the Circuit Court’s February 6, 2023, Order, App. 400-09, must be affirmed and this matter must be remanded back to the Circuit Court for further proceedings.

B. THIS COURT SHOULD NOT HEAR THE PETITIONER’S ARGUMENTS CONCERNING WHETHER IT IS ENTITLED TO IMMUNITY, BECAUSE THAT ARGUMENT WAS INTENTIONALLY OMITTED FROM IT’S ORIGINAL MOTION TO DISMISS, AND THEREFOR IS NOT RIPE FOR THIS COURT’S CONSIDERATION

The Petitioner’s argument that it is entitled to immunity was not timely raised to the Circuit Court in its only properly filed Motion to Dismiss, MTD No. 1. *See* Section V.A, *supra*. Under Rule 12 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, the Circuit Court was within its right to deny the Petitioners Motions to Dismiss, MTD Nos 2, 3, and 4, as untimely. To date, no Circuit

Court judge has ruled that the Petitioner is not entitled to immunity. This Court does not hear issues not properly raised before the Circuit Court.

The Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia has stated that “Generally, when nonjurisdictional questions have not been decided at the trial court level and are then first raised before this Court, they will not be considered on appeal.” *State ex rel. Johnson & Freedman, LLC v. McGraw*, 243 W. Va. 12, 18, 842 S.E.2d 216, 222 (2020) (internal quotations omitted). The justification for this rule is, in part, the “need to have the issue refined, developed, and adjudicated by the trial court, so that we may have the benefit of its wisdom.” *Whitlow v. Bd. of Educ. of Kanawha Cnty.*, 190 W. Va. 223, 226, 438 S.E.2d 15, 18 (1993). One exception to this rule, and the one claimed by the Petitioner in pages 32 through 34 of its *Brief*, is the collateral order doctrine. “Under the collateral order doctrine, an interlocutory order may be subject to immediate appeal if it (1) conclusively determines the disputed controversy, (2) resolves an important issue completely separate from the merits of the action, and (3) is effectively unreviewable on appeal from a final judgment.” *Erie Ins. Co. v. Dolly*, 240 W. Va. 345, 355, 811 S.E.2d 875, 885 (2018)

In *Kanawha Cnty. Bd. of Educ. v. S. D. by & through J. D.*, a minor student brought an action by and through her parents against a county board of education and school personnel for the harm that resulted from the minor being inappropriately touched by a fellow student. 249 W. Va. 401, 895 S.E.2d 485, 487 (2023). The board and personnel originally filed a motion to dismiss the claims against the individual school personnel and the claims for punitive damages under the Tort Claims Act. *Id.* at 488. The Circuit Court granted the motion to dismiss regarding the punitive damages claims only. After discovery, the board filed a motion for summary judgment against the minor students’ claims for negligent infliction of emotional distress and negligent supervision. The motion for summary judgment did not include arguments under the Tort Claims Act. *Id.* The

Circuit Court denied the motion for summary judgment. On appeal, the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia analyzed whether the Circuit Court’s order denying summary judgment met the recognized limited exception to the finality requirement for interlocutory orders known as the collateral order doctrine. The Court concluded that the order denying the motion for summary judgment was interlocutory and not immediately appealable. The Court stated the “order denying [the board and school personnel]’s motion for summary judgment *on grounds other than immunity* does not qualify for immediate review under the collateral order doctrine.” *Id.* at 490 (Emphasis added). The rationale for this Court’s ruling was as follows:

[The order denying summary judgment] reflects no denial of [the board and school personnel’s] motion to dismiss—even in part—much less an immunity-predicated denial of their motion. [The board and school personnel] appear to require the Court’s assumption that by not expressly *granting* an overlooked immunity argument contained in their written motion to dismiss, the circuit court effectively *denied* it. However, at best, the order merely reflects that the circuit court did not rule on any immunity issues, since “[i]t is a paramount principle of jurisprudence that a court speaks only through its orders.” *Legg v. Felinton*, 219 W. Va. 478, 483, 637 S.E.2d 576, 581 (2006).

As further evidence of this defect, [the board and school personnel] identify no “error” contained in the [] order, arguing only that a finding contained in that order entitles the individual [school personnel] to statutory immunity. However, [the board and school personnel] failed to subsequently seek a ruling on the implications of that finding, most notably failing to seek summary judgment on that basis. In short, [the board and school personnel] seek this Court’s review of a ruling they never obtained, ostensibly contained in an order in which they identify no “error.”

Id. at 491 (Emphasis in original).

Here, the Circuit Court’s February 6, 2024 Order, App. 400-09, denying the Petitioner’s Motions to Dismiss, MTD Nos. 2, 3, & 4, does not meet the limited exception of the collateral order doctrine and cannot be first decided on appeal to this Court. First, the Order did not

conclusively determine the disputed controversies in this case. The Circuit Court's Order did not resolve the merits of either the Petitioner's claims for statutory immunity or the constitutionality of W. Va. Code § 55-2-15. The Circuit Court's Order rested on sound grounds that were grounds other than immunity or constitutionality. *See* Syl Pt. 1 *Kent v. Sullivan*, 249 W. Va. 747, 901 S.E.2d 500, 501 (2024) ("Under Rule 12 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, a circuit court's denial of a motion to dismiss a complaint that is *predicated on the statutory immunity* conferred by the [Tort Claims Act] is an interlocutory ruling that is subject to immediate appeal under the collateral order doctrine.") (Emphasis added).

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